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For Allison











“Only a virtuous people are capable of freedom. As nations become more corrupt and vicious, they have more need of masters.”


—Benjamin Franklin, 17871


“It is a characteristic of any decaying civilization that the great masses of the people are unconscious of the tragedy.”


—Fulton J. Sheen, 19482
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Introduction


He had the look of a madman as he sat in the heavy wood and leather chair. His contorted face shifted from side to side and up and down as if disembodied from the neck. Beady eyes never broke their stare into the camera lens. A creepy, tight-lipped grin sneered contempt. In one short video, he exuded the disturbed, sadistic mania of a nightmarish bad clown.


He was the FBI’s chief of counterintelligence, America’s top spy-hunter. At least that was his position. His name was Peter Strzok. Apart from the reptilian movement of his head, he sat still in his chair, smirking as he avoided answering questions of the congressional oversight panel.


With people like Strzok running the FBI’s bloated headquarters, the bureau’s most influential work in recent years had little to do with finding real spies. Its most impactful counterintelligence operation was Crossfire Hurricane, which wasn’t a spy hunt at all, but a fake exercise to push the idea that the brash Donald Trump, as candidate and as president, was a willful Russian collaborator and traitor to his country.


It was all a lie. Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller III, a former FBI director, issued a lengthy report in 2019 stating that the premises of Crossfire Hurricane were unsubstantiated and fabricated.1 In 2023, seven years after Crossfire Hurricane further polarized the nation almost to a breaking point, Special Counsel John H. Durham led a team to find out who in government was responsible for the reckless disinformation and why. Durham and his investigators conducted more than 480 interviews, issued 190 grand jury subpoenas, and collected 6 million pages of documents.2 Some important objects of his probe, including former FBI directors and FBI counterintelligence agents, refused to cooperate.3


Durham issued a blistering three-hundred-page document showing how the intelligence community, and the FBI in particular, threw all standards of professionalism out the window to spread these reports—every word of them unsubstantiated or false. They were instead cooked up by the Clinton campaign, a foreign former intelligence officer, and a Russian citizen who the FBI believed all along had been a Kremlin spy.


This book isn’t about the heroic, creative, patriotic men and women of the FBI and CIA who faithfully executed their oaths as public servants and literally saved the country from foreign enemies. It isn’t about the magnificent successes against cartel gangsters, terrorists, child traffickers, and spies. It isn’t about the failures and terrible judgment of those who tried mightily, usually with good intentions, but whose actions continue to haunt the country. It doesn’t reveal who “really” shot JFK.


All utopian movements and societies require enforcers. Big Intel is about how these former protectors of American founding principles have followed societal trends to become the secret services of critical theory and fonts of the democracy-demolishing wokeness that the theory animates.


This is a counterintelligence story—a chronicle of a battle the FBI and CIA fought for decades before they succumbed to a generations-old hostile foreign intelligence operation to destroy the United States and Western civilization from within. It’s about how American foreign intelligence was targeted and attacked as soon as it was founded. These attacks were not about partisan politics—yes, the FBI and CIA did meddle in domestic politics and still do—but something far deeper: they were meant to turn American instruments of power into enforcers of the vanguards spearheading the fundamental transformation of our country. Big Intel seeks to answer how it happened. And to do that, we go to Moscow more than a century ago, before there was an FBI by that name, or a CIA at all.


Like the virus that caused COVID-19, the critical theory pandemic infecting America’s institutions is a foreign import with traceable origins. From its beginnings in and around the Kremlin, we can follow what journalist Diana West calls an unbroken “chain of ideological custody,” a “red thread,” from the launch of two brilliant Bolshevik strategic active measures offensives that its designers intended to unfold over generations.4 As with the people who conceived them, those operations begat their own spores or strains, which developed lives of their own and succeeded beyond their founders’ imagination. The successor spawn are well on the way to imposing their own hegemony over American life and the lives of nations around the world. Here I focus on the infection of the CIA and FBI, the very institutions designed to defend against hostile foreign covert subversion.


The early Soviets’ strategic cultivation of seeds in Europe grew into a taproot called the Frankfurt School. Moscow’s plan a century ago was to use the Frankfurt School to destroy Weimar Germany from within after World War I, and then collapse the rest of Europe by poisoning its culture and destroying its history. The United States was barely part of the picture then.


The rise of Adolf Hitler and his National Socialist German Workers’ Party inadvertently gave the Frankfurt School an unplanned boost. The Nazis caused the leaders and operatives to flee to free parts of Europe, and ultimately to export the Frankfurt School across the Atlantic and anchor itself on both coasts of the United States. The good-natured American people welcomed them. Their naïve hospitality was used against them. Rather than becoming good fellow Americans, these intellectuals of the Frankfurt School and other Soviet agents and fellow travelers would bring their Central European ideological baggage with them to subvert and ruin, not strengthen, the country that gave them sanctuary. Some of them hit on a formula that had wide appeal and quickly spread like a prairie fire.


After a century, the net results of that active measures strategy would fundamentally transform the way many American politicians, influencers, lawyers, judges, law enforcement officers, intelligence analysts, and intelligence operatives viewed their own country and its founding constitutional principles. The strategy ditched the stodgy and dull driving principle of established Marxism—the economic determinism that pits the proletarian economic class of toiling masses irreconcilably against the bourgeoisie toward a “dictatorship of the proletariat”—and returned to Marx to divide, polarize, and destroy by other means.


Marxism’s permanent warfare would ravage the culture, starting with education and family and spreading through the arts, deeply held religious beliefs and values, ethnicity, sexuality, patriotism, and law. We can trace the rise of cultural Marxism from its beginnings in early Soviet Russia, through interwar Germany, during World War II when it first penetrated American foreign intelligence, through the Cold War when the FBI led the country against such subversion, right up to the present when the CIA and then the FBI embraced it, wrapped it in lovely packaging called diversity, equity, and inclusion, and placed it at the core of their missions. The term “cultural Marxism” was too inflammatory to use in government and always denied. But the agencies internalized the train of thought to induce people to think and behave as cultural Marxists, usually without even realizing it. That intellectual construct or thought process is called critical theory.


More than a century ago, FBI director J. Edgar Hoover recognized this red thread and understood where it would lead. Hoover was trained as a lawyer. He portrayed himself as America’s lawman, but first and foremost he fought foreign subversion of American values and society. Federal lawmakers of both parties never enacted laws to wage the fight effectively, so Hoover and his FBI, usually with a wink or diverted eye from presidents and from Congress, dove into that gray area and built the FBI into a domestic intelligence agency with police powers.


Though not known to have used the term critical theory, Hoover worked tirelessly to act against it and warn the country about it. He tracked the red thread as it stitched and wove through educational and activist institutions, to the creation of the administrative state under President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s New Deal, the great OSS of World War II, and the CIA. Hoover wasn’t perfect. Like none before or since, he had decades to compound his mistakes and few opponents to challenge him. His permanence in power, with almost no congressional oversight, often presented a public menace in the name of the public good.


But he was right in identifying the institutional, individual, and ideological drivers of destructive change in America. He fairly predicted the social trends at work to fundamentally transform the country. History may have reviled him. So has the FBI itself. But the twenty-first-century FBI, as with the CIA, became a greater threat to the constitutional system and American society than the surprisingly restrained Hoover ever could have been.










My Beginning










CHAPTER 1


The grandfatherly OSS veteran sat with me over a cup of tea. “You’re a Catholic, aren’t you.” It was more of a statement than a question.


“Well, yes. But not a very good one.”


“Go to the five o’clock vigil Mass at Saint Matthew’s Cathedral on Saturday. Sit in one of the back pews on the left side. Don’t leave until someone speaks to you.”


That was an odd way to get me back to church, I thought. But I did as he suggested.


He went by Jim. Just Jim. I never knew his last name, but I’d been told by a friend, Constantine Menges on the White House National Security Council (NSC) staff, to go and meet the OSS gent and tell him about myself. There wasn’t much to tell. It was in the fall of 1983. I was just a kid, a junior at the George Washington University. What made me different was my interest in fighting Communism and supporting President Reagan’s strategy to push Soviet-backed revolutionaries out of Central America. I tried Army ROTC at Georgetown but bailed before officially signing.




Weird Way around Reagan’s White House


At the time I was national secretary of Young Americans for Freedom (YAF), Reagan’s favorite youth organization, and doubled as a coordinator at the College Republican National Committee on Capitol Hill to promote the president’s takedown of the Soviet bloc.


Earlier I’d interned for United States senator Gordon Humphrey from my home state of New Hampshire, where I met his policy director, Morton Blackwell, who himself had been active for decades in youth politics. That was in the fall of 1980, when I voted for the first time, casting an absentee ballot from my dorm for Reagan as president. The day after the election, Morton was gone. He joined the Reagan transition team to prepare for the incoming administration.


Morton was a networker. Before Reagan’s election he had told me to go to the next CPAC, the annual Conservative Political Action Conference. At the Reagan White House, he was responsible for outreach to conservatives. I kept in contact with him, and he put me in touch with Faith Whittlesey, back in Washington from her first stint as ambassador to Switzerland and then, in 1983, doing public outreach at the White House. Faith and I became friends right away. By then I had become interested in student journalism and was angling to go to Soviet-occupied Afghanistan with Soldier of Fortune magazine, whose correspondent I had met at a YAF meeting.


“That would be a very bad idea,” Faith warned sternly. “You can do better. You speak Spanish. You should cover the wars in Central America.”


At that time in 1983, Nicaragua was in its fourth year of Communist rule under the Sandinista National Liberation Front. The Sandinistas turned Nicaragua into a staging area to export Soviet-sponsored subversion and violence across Central America. Their main immediate target was neighboring El Salvador, where their allied Farabundo Martí National Liberation Front (FMLN) was waging a murderous campaign to overthrow the Salvadoran government. True to their ways, the Salvadorans responded in kind, causing diplomatic and political nightmares for their American allies. It was an ugly time.


“You should meet Constantine,” Faith said.


I had heard of Constantine Menges, the CIA man who served as a national intelligence officer on the White House National Security Council staff. Constantine was a profound, learned scholar handling parts of the extremely controversial Latin America portfolio for Reagan. Friends and detractors, for different reasons, called him “Constant Menace.” He was also CIA director William J. Casey’s designated person, or at least one of them, on the NSC staff. Reagan and Casey didn’t trust the CIA, or at least most of the intelligence officers and analysts who had risen to the top, so they needed trustworthy eyes and ears like Constantine who knew the agency inside and out.







“They’ll Grind You Down or Spit You Out,” or “You Will Hate It and It Will Hate You”


That fall at the university, I took a course on the history of Soviet intelligence services. My professor, John J. Dziak, was a civilian officer attached to the Defense Intelligence Agency. He taught the country’s only unclassified course on the subject. I developed a friendship with him and told him that I’d like to go into the CIA. “Don’t do it,” he warned. “Not with your views and your personality. They’ll grind you down or spit you out, or you’ll leave broken and disillusioned.”


In making my rounds on Capitol Hill to network with people, I met an intensely energetic Senate Select Committee on Intelligence staff member. His name was Angelo Codevilla. He patiently listened with morbid amusement to my plans to join the CIA. With a penetrating stare and a grimace both fierce and amiable, he intoned, “Intelligence is a vital function of government. Don’t be so impressed with the CIA. It’s a bureaucracy that isn’t doing its job. You will hate it and it will hate you. The CIA is about perpetuating itself as a bureaucracy. It is not for mission-oriented people like you. Not anymore.”


That came as a discouragement, since Casey was supposedly rejuvenating the CIA. The agency had been in a state of demoralization following the Vietnam War collapse, the congressional oversight revelations after Watergate, and the wholesale overturning of the agency under the Carter administration. The CIA was recruiting other young people as it expanded and rebounded. While the agency was indeed hiring conservative people as operations officers and analysts, my temperament was not suited to becoming part of a permanent bureaucratic machine. So I never applied.


Constantine shared my views and independence, but he had been within, but not part of, the establishment for a long time. As a college student he had marched in the civil rights movement with Rev. Martin Luther King Jr. and made networks of friends and contacts across the political spectrum. With Faith’s recommendation, he met me for what became a long if challenging friendship for the rest of his life. He liked that I was a YAF leader and one of the few Spanish-speaking young conservatives on the Reagan team. He liked that, earlier that year, I had been a U.S. delegate to the United Nations International Youth Year preparatory commission in Costa Rica. He especially liked that—using that week-long UN delegate credential—I had tried to sneak into Nicaragua on my own with the anti-Sandinista forces of former Sandinista guerrilla leader Edén Pastora.








“My Friend Jim” from the OSS


Known as Commander Zero, Pastora had become world-famous leading a Sandinista insurrection against the Nicaraguan congress controlled by then strongman Anastasio Somoza. Once the Sandinistas took power, Pastora joined their regime only to quit or be forced out. He took up arms because they betrayed the revolution’s alleged democratic ideals. The Communists couldn’t control Commander Zero, and neither could the CIA. Sadly, the charismatic leader couldn’t control himself either, and he hindered rather than advanced the Nicaraguan resistance.


Constantine had endless intellect, energy, and stamina. He is said to have been the first, in the 1960s, to design a plan to collapse the Soviet empire without fighting a war. He constantly sought opportunities to exploit against the Soviet enemy. In the Reagan White House, while I was befriending him, he took advantage of deadly infighting within the Communist regime of Grenada, a small Caribbean island, and pushed a plan to use the opportunity to spark the strategic reversal of Soviet expansion, what he called the Reagan Doctrine. That was in October 1983, when President Reagan launched Operation Urgent Fury, both to rescue American medical students in Grenada and to overthrow the Soviet-backed regime to start a rollback against Communism. Some of Reagan’s critics accused him of invading Grenada to divert attention from a massive terrorist attack on U.S. Marine barracks in Beirut. They denied that Grenada’s regime was really Communist or Soviet-allied and was building an airstrip that could accommodate Soviet bombers. These critics were wrong.


Busy as he was, Constantine took the trouble to talk to me a few more times that fall. I told him of the work I wanted to do on the ground in Central America, doing something meaningful against the Communists and exposing their American support networks. “Talk to my friend Jim,” he said. Jim was a World War II veteran of the Office of Strategic Services, the OSS. A few times in late 1983, Jim took me out for a casual tea or coffee, wanting to know all about me and my background, my interests, my likes and dislikes, my views of the world, and my future plans, some of which he already seemed to know. But he never told me much about himself. He certainly never told me his real name.


Through Constantine I got in touch with the leadership of the Nicaraguan Democratic Force (FDN), a large anti-Communist guerrilla army backed by the CIA to overthrow the Sandinistas. The official government line was that the FDN was fighting to interdict Soviet bloc arms shipments to the FMLN Marxist guerrillas in El Salvador, and to pressure the Sandinistas to democratize. I wasn’t interested in that, and neither was the FDN. The real purpose, of course, was to overthrow the Communist regime, and I was all for it.


Constantine had two warnings for me. “Never say ‘CIA,’ because people’s ears perk up. That’s how things get in the Washington Post. Call it ‘ABC’ and nobody else will pay attention.”


His second warning was more emphatic: “Stay away from that lieutenant colonel. He’s going to get somebody in trouble.”


I heeded Constantine’s advice but never knew of any lieutenant colonel until a while later, when the headlines blared about a Marine of that rank, also on the NSC staff, named Oliver North. I immediately admired Colonel North, but kept my compartmentation pledge to Constantine. During the course of events another old OSS veteran working with the Contras took me under his wing: Major General John Singlaub, the former commander of U.S. Army forces in South Korea. Singlaub had a notch in his ear from a Waffen-SS sniper bullet. He had retired a few years earlier after differing publicly with President Jimmy Carter’s plan to reduce the American presence against the North Korean regime. He quietly warned me to avoid certain private individuals who were unduly profiteering from arms sales to the Contras. Singlaub was in it for the fight, not the money.








Anti-Communist Solidarity Forever


Meanwhile I linked up with an international group of anti-Soviet scholars and activists, all private citizens who had their own personal intelligence networks. They were somewhat like the OSS recruits in the early days of World War II. Indeed, some had worked at one time or another for OSS or MI6 or their Australian, Belgian, Canadian, nationalist Chinese, Danish, Dutch, French, German, Israeli, Italian, Norwegian, Polish, Turkish, or other counterparts. Some were Ukrainian nationalists. A few were very elderly White Russians who had fought the Bolsheviks, their Cheka secret police, and the Red Army. All, one way or another, had fought the Communists and the Nazis and their allies.


That private network was called the 61. Its leader was Brian Crozier, an Australian-born Brit who had been close to French general Charles de Gaulle during World War II. The 61 provided alternate sources of intelligence for British prime minister Margaret Thatcher, for President Reagan, and for other leaders around the world. It also “did things,” political warfare work for its members’ own countries and in solidarity with others worldwide. Here I learned the value of building lifelong personal international networks, and about the world of private, parallel intelligence collection and analysis for the mission-oriented—not publicity- or career-minded—in the land of misfit toys.


Through Constantine’s intercession, the FDN agreed to meet me in Honduras, take me to their main base just over the border from Nicaragua, and tell their story to American college students and the public. If someone had something else in mind for me, I was unaware. The week before I was to fly from Miami to Tegucigalpa, Jim asked me to see him. That’s when he told me to go to church. He also slipped me two envelopes of $500 each for “walking-around money” to cover my expenses and those of a fellow student journalist, Michael Johns, of the Miami Tribune at the University of Miami. I had already raised money on my own for the trip through Young America’s Foundation, but the cash would come in handy to get out of a jam in Central America.


Jim never mentioned why he wanted me to go to church. I thought that maybe it was an awkward way to clean me up spiritually before spending a week in a dangerous combat area with no training or preparation of any kind. He admonished me to tell no one. Forty years later, now that everyone concerned but Mike Johns is deceased and I won’t be violating anyone’s confidence, I can tell the story for the first time. Plus I’m not subject to any CIA pre-publication review.













CHAPTER 2




Going to Church


Constantine expressed interest in my trip, which I thought was odd for a very busy White House NSC official, given that I was just a college undergrad. For me, at age twenty-one, having such a White House connection was a really neat thing, and I enjoyed the friendship. Constantine was also a Catholic.


Following Jim’s advice, I went by myself to the sparsely attended Saturday afternoon vigil Mass at Saint Matthew’s. Perhaps it was a test of something. I didn’t know. But I did see, about ten or fifteen pews ahead of me, a familiar-looking, stooped figure. Jim had told me to stay put until someone approached me, so I didn’t go to Communion. I wasn’t in any spiritual shape to go at that time in my life anyway, so it would have been wrong. But the stooped man went. He looked exactly like CIA director William Casey.


After the priest concluded that the Mass had ended and bid us go in peace, I stood and sang as the organ played the recessional hymn. A stern-looking woman blocked me by the pew. “Are you Waller?”


That was odd. “Yes.”


“Stay here. Don’t move.”


Obviously Jim had sent her. What a coincidence that I went to the same Mass as Bill Casey just before my trip with the Contras!


But it was no coincidence. The woman motioned to a man at Casey’s side as the CIA director shuffled to the organ music up the center aisle. The man gestured up to Casey, who stopped next to the woman and looked right at me.


My right hand shot out, stupidly. “Nice to meet you, Mr. Director.” I felt like a jerk.


Casey ignored my greeting and leaned toward my face. “Cap-ee-tan Loo-kay,” he mumbled. Or something like that.


“Excuse me?”


“Cap-ee-tan Loo-kay.” Casey shuffled away.


In an unforgettable barking whisper, the man escorting Casey issued five commanding words: “Capitán Luque. Remember that name.”


As the organist keyed the second verse of the recessional hymn, Casey and his entourage disappeared through the cathedral’s massive bronze doors and down the steps to a waiting car on Rhode Island Avenue.


I didn’t have a clue what had just happened.


Later I called Jim, but he didn’t get back to me. We never spoke again. I never learned who he was.







Just an Amateur Tourist in Tegucigalpa Looking for Contras


Skipping the beginning of spring semester a few days later, I flew to Tegucigalpa, met Mike Johns at the shabby plate-glass and cinder-block airport, and got questioned. “What is the purpose of your visit?” the immigration guard asked.


“Tourism.”


“Where will you be staying?”


I had no idea where we would be staying, so I said, “Holiday Inn.” The Contras had merely told me that they would have someone greet us at the airport. I didn’t know their names or what they looked like. I knew nobody in Honduras, and of course there were no cell phones or internet back then. My answers were most unsatisfactory. With my longish hair and jeans, I might have been one of those Yankee Sandinista fellow travelers set up for some revolutionary useful idiot tour. We were told to wait.


And wait we did. It took a long time. Turns out there was indeed a Holiday Inn in Tegucigalpa, but they had no reservation for me. I couldn’t tell the Hondurans what I was really doing, and Constantine had told me to stay away from the American embassy. So I had nothing to say to my local inquisitors. That was unhelpful. I thought we’d be taken away as suspected Communists and interrogated. So I decided to pull rank. I would ask for the only officer whose name I knew.


In Spanish I told a uniformed bureaucrat, “I want to see Capitán Luque.” The bureaucrat looked puzzled, muttered something I didn’t understand, disappeared into a grimy office, and closed the door. Several minutes went by. Finally a very fat uniformed officer, whose insignia I didn’t recognize, waddled out to talk to us. “Capitán Luque?” I asked.


“Capitán Luque. Bienvenidos. Vengan conmigo.” Captain Luque. Welcome. Come with me.


Nothing more. The portly officer helpfully escorted us through a private side door of the primitive airport terminal to the parking lot and gestured toward a beat-up, twin-cab Toyota pickup full of Contras. And so began an adventure that would span seven years on and off, through the entire fight of the Nicaraguan resistance and the counterinsurgency against the Communist guerrillas in El Salvador.


It was one of those exciting times at the beginning of adult life, and I didn’t really pay much attention to detail at the time, but over the years I wondered why CIA director Casey would know the name of a heavy Honduran captain during a still-unexplained encounter at church. Especially because that first trip down there was as legitimate student journalists. I ended up writing a three-part series that ran on the front page of the newest daily newspaper in the nation’s capital, the Washington Times.


Constantine never explained why Casey said those words to me, and I never asked. Nobody told me. I just trusted these older spooks and prayed, for real, that everything would turn out well. Then, during the Iran-Contra hearings a few years later, word got out that Casey would meet people at Mass because he couldn’t legally be forced to testify to Congress about what happened in church during a religious service. And with the cathedral organ still playing the recessional hymn, under some law or interpretation thereof to protect citizens’ freedom of religion, Mass was still in session even if the priest had already said it was ended and we could go in peace. But I wouldn’t understand the significance of this for many years.







A Cryptonym and a Pat on the Back


I figured out that Jim was probably a friend of Casey from the OSS days, making sure I’d be at church on time.


Thirty years later, Casey’s son-in-law, Owen Smith, told me that in the early 1980s Casey had deployed him to buy fax machines and other communications gear for Lech Walesa’s Solidarity movement in Soviet-occupied Poland. Smith, a private citizen, then ran the equipment to a Vatican nunciature for delivery under diplomatic seal to Warsaw. One or more of Casey’s trusted friends had given Smith cash to buy the equipment in a third country.


When I told him about my Contra story, Smith, an enthusiastic man with a friendly laugh, exclaimed, “That’s how Bill did it! ‘Jim’ was certainly one of his old OSS buddies. He gave you some cash, right? Yeah, that came straight out of Bill’s pocket. Bill used his own money to fund these sorts of things. Congress couldn’t control that. He gave me the money to buy the fax machines for Poland. He would meet people in church to give them instructions or get information. He’d always pick a different church. He went almost daily. As long as Mass was in session, nobody could force him to testify. That’s how he protected his people.”


I asked why Casey would have told me, “Capitán Luque.”


“That’s all he said to you? That was probably your cryptonym,” Smith said, thinking it over. “Yeah, Bill personally gave you your cryptonym. That’s how he kept it out of the CIA records. No paper trail. That guy in Honduras wasn’t Captain Luque. You were Captain Luque.”


And so I served as an asset for CIA director Bill Casey in Central America. Total amateur. The first trip was just to get my feet wet. The Grenada invasion had supplied a haul of secret documents which, made public, would provide proof of Soviet plans to take over the Caribbean and Central America—something Reagan’s liberal opponents in Congress were downplaying or denying. The CIA was uncovering more in Central America, mostly from FMLN guerrillas in El Salvador, but few were truly useful to provide the public proof that Reagan wanted.


During Constantine’s time in the Reagan White House, we talked a few times a year, with him giving me guidance on intelligence he hoped I would collect on the ground in Central America. By then I was going back and forth as often as I could. Constantine was specifically interested in Soviet and Soviet-bloc material support for El Salvador’s FMLN, and about Latin American youth leaders supportive of Fidel Castro or local Communists.


One day I was invited to the Roosevelt Room at the White House with other Central America–oriented people. We all wore name tags. President Reagan walked in to greet us individually. He shook my hand strongly, gripped my shoulder, and looked me straight in the eye. “Mike, what you’re doing is very important to me,” the president said with that famous Reagan smile. “Keep up the good work.”







Didn’t Trust the CIA Then, Either


I didn’t become a CIA asset, because I was working in a parallel channel through a White House detailee who reported straight to Bill Casey and at his personal expense. I collected documentation of Soviet-bloc weapons and subversion, and on Cuban- and Soviet-controlled human assets and targets.


As long as those humans were not Americans.


When I discovered documentation of U.S. congressional staff who worked with the Sandinistas and FMLN or the Cuban regime—people like Jim McGovern, then an aide to Congressman Joe Moakley (D-MA)—Constantine waved me off and said he wouldn’t touch it. But he told me who legally could. Still nothing was done. McGovern got elected to succeed Moakley and still represents the district in Worcester, Massachusetts. And he still supports the same old causes.


Constantine was thrilled with the cache of secret documents that American forces had captured in Grenada. Such documents, he said, should be examined and made available for all to see, to show the nation and the world what the USSR was doing in the American hemisphere.


Ultimately, the Grenada documents were sorted and released jointly, along with an analytical report, in a very public way by the Departments of State and Defense, and provided to anyone who wanted them. With no editing or alteration. In their pure form, the documents proved the ongoing covert Soviet invasion of the Americas.


Constantine believed that the CIA had grown too large, and after the 1970s turmoil too ineffective, to run operations that should properly be left to non-intelligence agencies, non-governmental organizations, and the private sector. People in captive nations risked compromise or arrest if they took money or instruction in a CIA covert political operation, but by the 1980s risked few such dangers if the funds were openly provided by a non-intelligence entity. Just as Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty had been spun off from the CIA into independent corporate entities funded by Congress in the 1950s, so should American support for foreign political parties, media outlets, social movements, and so forth in the fight against Soviet international subversion. The covert became overt.


Meanwhile, my relationship with the Salvadoran army grew to the point that I gained unusual access to battlefield intelligence, including documents captured from the backpacks of captured or killed FMLN members, even at times when the Salvadorans had grown tense with the U.S. embassy. Constantine wasn’t interested in tactical minutiae, only in Soviet big-picture evidence. I had no knowing contact with any CIA officer anywhere except for Constantine in his role as a senior White House official who reported outside official channels directly to Casey.


And with good reason: Constantine didn’t trust many of his colleagues at the CIA. Nor did Angelo Codevilla. Nor did Casey, who had engaged in a public battle with CIA analysts miraculously unable to link the Soviet Union to the sponsorship of international terrorism.







Amateurs against Traitors


So by the mid-1980s I operated as a privately funded amateur collecting documentation of Soviet support for terrorists and insurgents. I infiltrated and attempted to disrupt the World Peace Council, a Soviet front organization, and took part in a few other activities, because for some reason the official channels weren’t always working. I was told just to collect the latest Kremlin propaganda materials and not to be disruptive. But when I saw some British friends from the Crozier network who were organizing a massive disruption to wreck the $50 million event, I jumped right in.


As a part of the United States Peace Council delegation, I met a Communist operative from California named Barbara Lee, then a congressional aide. She called herself “Comrade Barbara” and went around affectionately addressing certain others as “Comrade,” which I understood to be a mutual recognition of loyal party membership. She gushed over a short, oily man from India whom she called Comrade Romesh. It was Romesh Chandra, a high-level KGB agent who headed the World Peace Council. Comrade Barbara is now a senior member of Congress.1


It was never clear during this freewheeling adventure why the CIA didn’t have its own human assets to do this fairly easy and fun activity, or why the unclassified intelligence products that I’d seen missed a lot of the obvious. Part of the problem was the nature of bureaucracies. Part was institutional turf-fighting. Part ideological or political bias. Part simply poor analysis and the groupthink that reinforced it. And part was far more sinister.


At that same time, in Defense Intelligence Agency headquarters in Washington, the lead analyst for Nicaragua and El Salvador toiled busily day and night on the Central American wars. She was a dour, spindly woman born at a U.S. military base in Germany. Four of her family members reportedly worked for the FBI. She lived alone by the National Zoo. She never got my information because I had circumvented official channels.


This DIA analyst also worked for the other side. She passed American secrets to an intelligence officer for the Cuban government. She was an ideological Communist spy.


Her name was Ana Belén Montes.2


She wasn’t the only traitor. There were more in the FBI, CIA, and elsewhere. But the attitude at both the FBI and CIA in those years was one of smug invincibility. They believed themselves clever and careful, and this belief propagating through their bureaucratic culture convinced them that no hostile spies could penetrate them. And if I said any differently at the time, I was obviously terribly misinformed, if not maliciously set against the bureau or the agency. These institutions were sacred and could not be challenged. Because they had the secrets. And I did not.













CHAPTER 3




“Most Irregular” Research on Soviet Intelligence


After I spent two years studying how to recognize and combat Soviet disinformation under former Soviet-bloc intelligence officer Ladislav Bittman at Boston University’s Disinformation Documentation Center, and then three years studying the real-time changes in the Soviet KGB under Professor Uri Ra’anan at BU’s Institute for the Study of Conflict, Ideology, and Policy, an academic press published my doctoral dissertation.


My research methodology was “most irregular” but always brought a smile to the somberly serious Professor Ra’anan. It involved several trips to Moscow during the Soviet collapse of 1991 and the aftermath in 1992 and 1993, with rare interviews and discussions with dozens of active and former Soviet KGB foreign intelligence, internal security, political police, and other officers and their victims. Former Soviet dissidents and political prisoners, human rights activists, elected members of the Supreme Soviet and the Russian State Duma, Russian investigative journalists, and foreign activists helped me in my work. It was primary source information. Many of them had ransacked or otherwise pillaged secret KGB and Soviet Communist Party documents from unsecured offices. I brought back bags of classified KGB documents and manuals, some of KGB chairman Yuri Andropov’s briefings to the Politburo, and other material. I was one of the few Westerners at the time who got unofficial access into the ghostly Lubyanka headquarters of the KGB.


My dissertation, the first scholarly work of its kind, was published in 1994 as Secret Empire: The KGB in Russia Today.


Despite the book’s new information, public interest had almost evaporated in anything except the warmest wishful thinking about Russia’s future. My unpopular and sometimes ridiculed view was that the former KGB had positioned itself to take over the Russian economy and state. HarperCollins publishing house had bought Westview, the publisher of my dissertation, and the accountants ordered slow-selling books like mine to be recycled as pulp.


Secret Empire got some good endorsements, including a cover pitch by former national security adviser Zbigniew Brzezinski and my former professor Jack Dziak, and a scholarly review by General William Odom, a formidable Sovietologist and former director of the National Security Agency.


Of all the FBI agents and analysts assigned to watch the KGB, only one had actually read the book and sought me out to learn more. This fairly senior FBI man, a counterintelligence supervisory special agent named Bob, had become interested in my work. He also wanted to know about what I did not put in the book. He demonstrated an unusually deep and broad knowledge of the KGB. I was enthused to be able to put my academic experience in the service of FBI counterintelligence.


Bob invited me to his office at the State Department, where he served as the bureau’s man overseeing foreign embassies and other diplomatic missions in Washington. He invited me many times to his house for lasagna dinner with his wife and children. He often took me out to lunch. Bob was a big, rather odd guy, with an awkward, toothy smile and a tendency to try to dominate physically. But he had a lot of stories and shared deep insights and information. And he asked endless questions, not interrogative but intellectual and philosophical. He handed me a couple of pocket-sized, unclassified State Department booklets with a key to all the prefixes of the diplomatic license plates issued to each foreign embassy in Washington, so I could tell which car was from which embassy.







Awkward Moment with FBI Director Freeh and an Agent Named Bob


A few years later, in December 2000, Bob and I chatted at a family Christmas party at the school that our sons attended. FBI director Louis Freeh’s son studied at the same school. As Bob and I stood a few feet from the Christmas dinner buffet table talking shop once more about KGB stuff—it had now been almost a year since a Chekist named Vladimir Putin had taken control of Russia’s government, confirming a warning in my academic research—Freeh walked into the room, alone. He was going to give a talk to all the dads and their sons. He saw Bob. Instead of saying hello, he made a beeline for the buffet.


“Louie’s a good guy, but he doesn’t know anything about CI,” Bob said, using CI as shorthand for counterintelligence. I asked him to introduce me to Freeh before his presentation. He said I should just introduce myself. So I tried to strike up a conversation with Freeh at the buffet. We were the only two at the table. I stood two feet across from him. But Freeh kept his gaze fixed into the chafing dishes. He wouldn’t even look at me.


Returning with my plate, I said to Bob, “Everyone always said that Freeh’s a really nice guy. He’s pretty rude.”


Bob countered that, no, Freeh was indeed a nice guy, but agreed that tonight he did seem a little uptight and out of character. Again he said, rather smugly and gratuitously, “Louie doesn’t know anything about CI.”


A few weeks later, in January 2001 during a lunch break one day, Bob walked from the State Department on Twenty-third Street to my office on Sixteenth Street up from the White House, at the Institute of World Politics, a graduate school where I was the Annenberg Professor of International Communication. He seemed uncharacteristically happy—not in his usual smug and awkward way, but free and almost giddy.


“I’ve been reassigned to headquarters,” he announced. He didn’t know what his job would be, but he said that being back at the J. Edgar Hoover Building, where he claimed to have written the FBI’s accounting software system years before, would look great on his resume before his planned retirement. “I don’t have computer skills in my personnel record, so this will be beneficial,” he said, noting the tech boom in the Washington, D.C., area and musing about a post-FBI career. The antiquated bureau wasn’t known for its digital acumen. We both chatted in the lobby for five or ten minutes; then he abruptly announced it was time to walk back to the State Department.


That was the last time I ever saw Bob. Within days, while taking a different kind of walk in his northern Virginia neighborhood, he learned the hard way that Louis Freeh did know something about CI after all.


“What took you so long?” Bob taunted the FBI agents who arrested him. From that day, Bob would be known to the world by his full, now infamous name: Robert Philip Hanssen.1








Director Freeh’s Side of the Story


Freeh would write about the Christmas father-son evening in his memoir. “There I was on the small stage, waiting to speak and knowing that the man sitting in front of me had sold his nation down the river; and there Bob Hanssen was, sitting by his son in the front row, not having the least idea that we had finally cracked his cover. I don’t think I ever showed it that evening—I certainly hope I didn’t—but the longer I sat, the angrier I got,” Freeh recalled.


“His crimes were going to come crashing down not just on his own very deserving head but also on the head of the unsuspecting boy sitting next to him as well as his wife and the rest of his family. To me, that was almost as unforgivable as the espionage itself.”2


No wonder the FBI director wasn’t up for a Christmas buffet table chat.


After the Russian spy’s arrest, an interagency Hanssen Damage Assessment Team scoured everything it could to get a handle on the full extent of the destruction from the FBI man’s treason. By that time, late 2001 or 2002, in the aftermath of 9/11, Robert S. Mueller III was director.







Rude Awakening: What the FBI Didn’t Want to Know


During my years as a working journalist at a weekly magazine published by the Washington Times, Hanssen had provided me material of an extremely sensitive nature. He did it, he said, to see if I could be trusted, and so I would know the terrible burdens of keeping secrets. I revealed none of it to anyone. After his arrest, I offered it all, including the physical laptop containing decrypted data received from Hanssen’s at-home server, to the Hanssen Damage Assessment Team. Six times. At my employer’s instructions, since I was a working journalist, I did it through Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld, a major Washington law firm that represented the Washington Times. The FBI showed no interest. Separately, two teams of FBI special agents came to visit me, but they didn’t seek the laptop.


I recounted this in 2004 at a McCormick Foundation counter-intelligence conference during a chance meeting with the CIA’s counterintelligence chief, Paul Redmond. Redmond had headed the Hanssen Damage Assessment Team. During a walk outside, I told him about my attempts to provide my computer to the FBI.


“So you’re the guy with the laptop,” Redmond said. The Hanssen Damage Assessment Team was closed down. He said cryptically, or so I understood him as saying, that Hanssen’s betrayal was so devastating that the FBI didn’t want to know its true cost after all. Too much to handle. The bureau just wanted to tidy things up and move on.







Spending Years with Living History


My first direct experience with FBI political correctness came after I helped start a jihadist awareness training program for the bureau in about 2005. Director Robert S. Mueller III presented each of us with a signed citation for our “extraordinary service” to the FBI. PC culture was seeping in. Under pressure from the Muslim Brotherhood and other jihadist sympathizers who felt offended and said the program was racist and bigoted, the FBI shut it down.


There’s no school like the old school. For years during and after college, I took every opportunity possible to sit down with old-timers from the FBI, the CIA, the OSS, and friendly foreign intelligence services. These meetings were just conversations, always presumed to be off the record, so I took no notes. The many late nights with living history profoundly refined my worldview. I got to know the people who had worked for, and with, J. Edgar Hoover and “Wild Bill” Donovan.


Both the bureau, as built by Hoover, and the OSS with Donovan as its sole leader, emerged in times of world war and national emergency, of foreign-sponsored political subversion and covert manipulation of American politics and decision-making. They were as essential as they were imperfect. They were led by honorable men with human frailties. They served as America’s eyes and ears against foreign enemies, and as the hands with which to defeat them.


Hoover built the FBI primarily as a domestic intelligence service with police powers, and secondarily as a law enforcement agency. The Bureau of Investigation had functioned since 1908 without an act of Congress or a legislative charter, its founding document a vague one-page memorandum about special agents by an attorney general named Bonaparte. The OSS would come decades later, as the United States entered World War II, only to be shut down after the war ended, to be replaced, with a few years’ gap, by the new Central Intelligence Agency.


Hoover and Donovan were personal rivals before becoming the giants of their times. Both were patriots with very different views of national security threats to the United States. Those divergent outlooks mattered with the rise of the Soviet Union. Hoover saw the threats clearly—not simply as matters of upholding the law or combating foreign agents, but as matters of preserving America’s national character and founding principles. He understood foreign subversion against the country was seeking to destroy Americans’ belief in themselves.


Donovan understood subversion, too, but in an opposite way: against a foreign enemy in wartime. He seemed not to see domestic threats from the Soviet side at all. And so began the bipolarity of American foreign intelligence, the “no enemies on the left” mentality that foreign enemies would exploit then as now, the battlespace through subversion that would fundamentally transform America long after the Soviet Union collapsed by injecting our society with critical theory and cultural Marxism.


CIA director Bill Casey’s OSS experience showed him the need for alternate sources of intelligence outside official channels as a quality check against the existing bureaucracy of collectors and analysts. Like Donovan, he liked amateurs. He wanted the CIA to collect intelligence that the agency establishment, for whatever reason, would not. And to analyze that intelligence in ways that it could not. Just as inside critics accused him of politicizing intelligence, Casey himself saw that intelligence was already politicized and substandard. He had no way of knowing just how politicized his beloved agency, to say nothing of the FBI, would ultimately become.


Though Donovan was older than Hoover, both got their starts in security or intelligence at about the same time, during and after World War I and the Bolshevik Revolution in Russia. Donovan did so as a private citizen collecting intelligence, and Hoover as a government official making sense of dangers to the country.


Here begins the story of America’s standing foreign intelligence and counterintelligence services, what would become the FBI and the CIA. This time also marks the beginning of the Soviets’ strategy to destroy America from within, which Donovan seemed not to comprehend but which Hoover understood all along.













PART I “Wild Bill” Donovan, the Bolsheviks, and J. Edgar Hoover





“I want you people here to organize and keep organizing until you are able to overthrow the damned rotten capitalistic government of this country.”


—Leon Trotsky, New York City, March 1917













CHAPTER 4




Donovan, Pancho Villa, and German Secret Codes


William J. Donovan lived large as the ultimate warrior gentleman adventurer. The 1905 Columbia College graduate built an influential law practice from his hometown in Buffalo, New York. Grandson of Irish Catholic immigrants at a time when being Irish and Catholic was not socially acceptable in much of the country, the handsome and dashing Donovan married an attractive, socially networked wife whose personal attributes and well-to-do Protestant family took off some of prejudice’s edge.


Donovan’s fast mind and drive made him an extraordinarily high achiever. While building what would become a powerful firm, he founded a cavalry unit for the New York National Guard. Then, in 1914, the Great War broke out in Europe. This provided an opportunity to go international. With the war raging but the United States still neutral, Donovan steamed to Berlin on a Rockefeller Foundation contract to open routes for humanitarian aid to refugees in stricken countries.


But there was trouble closer to home. A revolution and civil war had been tearing Mexico apart, with various factions fighting for power. In the fall of 1915, President Woodrow Wilson unofficially recognized one faction as Mexico’s legitimate government. The Germans had also backed that faction. Five months later, the audacious General Pancho Villa attacked the United States to provoke an American invasion to benefit his tactical position against the dominant, ruling faction.


Donovan returned home from Europe only to be called to active duty to lead his National Guard cavalry unit to the Mexican frontier. The United States Army was more of a constabulary force than an expeditionary force at the time, and relied on the National Guard against substantial Mexican forces. Donovan joined Brigadier General John “Black Jack” Pershing to hunt down Villa.


But Villa, with his trademark wide sombrero and machine gun bandolier belt crossing his chest, and a Hollywood film crew to record his escapades, drew the Americans deeper into Mexico and escaped. Wilson withdrew the troops and Donovan returned to New York.


For two more years, the British threw everything and everyone they had at the Central Powers of Germany, Austria-Hungary, and Turkey. The Western European countries lay crushed. Only Britain remained intact, but barely so.







Intel and Information Wars Transform the Twentieth Century


While Donovan and his cavalrymen were hunting Pancho Villa, Wilson was running for reelection under the slogan “He Kept Us Out of War”—even though he desperately wanted to invade Europe to spread democracy. During the campaign, in the summer of 1916, German agents blew up a huge military supply depot in New York, with a blast that would have measured higher than 5 on the Richter scale and was felt as far away as Maryland. Even this terrible act of war had not persuaded the public or Congress that it was in America’s vital interest to send millions of troops to fight overseas. But German attacks and British pro-war propaganda—along with the president’s own progressive idealism—made neutrality increasingly difficult. The British became more desperate for American intervention on their behalf. They needed to exploit a crisis or manufacture a provocation. This was where the clever use of intelligence came in.


London had long been able to intercept German diplomatic and military communications linking the world through undersea cables. Their codebreakers had cracked the German codes. The result of that persistent mathematical genius was one of Britain’s deepest secrets.


The Germans were equally desperate to keep the United States out. They faced a two-front war against Britain and remaining continental allies to the west and the immense Russian Empire to the east. Like Mexico, Imperial Russia was tearing itself apart in revolution and civil war. The tsar’s empire teetered on collapse.


The German leadership devised a plan to bog down America in its own hemisphere. Foreign Minister Arthur Zimmermann sent an encrypted telegram to his minister in Mexico in January of 1917, outlining an audacious strategy. Zimmermann informed his embassy in Mexico City that Berlin would arm the dominant Mexican faction to reclaim lost territories by invading the United States.


Germany would align militarily with Mexico and Imperial Japan. And it would resume unrestricted submarine warfare to sink American civilian ships.


By forcing the Americans to defend their own southern border and national territory with their small army, protect Atlantic shipping from German U-boats, and secure their vital trade routes with Asia, Berlin would foil British efforts to draw the United States into the war in Europe.


Meanwhile, exiled Russian revolutionaries worked Americans over whom they had influence to stay out of the war to allow the Germans to keep grinding away at the armies of Tsar Nicholas II. U.S. support for the British and their near-defeated Western European allies would strengthen the British, French, Belgian, neutral Dutch, and other “imperialists,” potentially taking pressure off the Russian imperial government, a pressure that the Russian revolutionaries, like the German high command, wanted to maintain.


American public opinion became the battlespace of the warring European powers.







Bolshevism in New York


Many of the larger eastern coastal cities of the United States, especially New York, had become home to radicalized European exiles and “refugees” who had infiltrated among the cold, huddled masses. They brought their anarchist, socialist, Communist, and other anti-American politics with them. One of those exiles, a visitor who had arrived by steamer on January 13, 1917, already enjoyed notoriety among the most extremist immigrants, mainly among German, Jewish, Polish, and Russian newcomers. He had tried to overthrow the tsarist government a dozen years earlier.


His name was Lev Bronstein. He went by the name Leon Trotsky.


Trotsky visited New York not as an immigrant or refugee. “My only profession in New York was that of a revolutionary socialist,” he later wrote.1 The night of his arrival, he joined another Bolshevik, Leonid Bukharin, to visit the grand New York Public Library. Trotsky would use the library as a base for revolutionary research. The United States had little ability to screen violent extremist foreigners at the time, let alone deport them. That left Trotsky and other foreigners free to agitate for Wilson to honor his reelection promise to keep the United States out of the war in Europe.


A short, mustachioed man with wild, wavy hair who sported a goatee to conceal his cleft chin, Trotsky lived for three months in the Bronx. In that short time, he “became one of New York’s leading voices against entering the World War,” according to historian Kenneth D. Ackerman. He addressed “packed crowds at the Brooklyn Lyceum, Manhattan’s Beethoven Hall, the Labor Temple near Union Square and similar venues.”2


The U.S. Socialist Party gave Trotsky a formal post to shape the party position on what members should do in case of war. The party had intended to represent the American working class, but in New York its membership was mainly radical immigrants who combined Old World prejudices with no American identity. Trotsky shared platforms at an anti-war protest with American socialist leader Eugene Debs.


British intelligence agents in New York watched Trotsky’s every move. Their Trotsky file began with warnings from the allied French secret service. While Trotsky and his Communist allies ran influence campaigns to reinforce the American people’s tendency to stay out of the war, the British ran campaigns of their own for American boys to save the British empire (though the propaganda framed it very differently), reinforcing Wilson’s idealistic and globalist words urging to “fight for democracy.”







The Zimmermann Telegram and Leon Trotsky


Three days after Trotsky’s arrival in New York, on January 16, German foreign minister Zimmermann sent what would become his infamous telegram to Mexico.


It took British cryptographers a while to break the coded message, one of many German cables being cracked at the time. The United Kingdom and United States did not enjoy the special relationship they would later develop. By this time, Britain’s back was to the wall, the existence of the empire at stake.


With covert knowledge of Germany’s plan to invite a world war against the United States if it supported its European enemies, the British made a last-ditch gamble. They decided to pass along one of their deepest secrets to the Americans and worse, to make it public, at the cost of alerting the enemy. The knowledge contained in the telegram was important, but the real secret was that Britain had broken the German code. The British could fire only one political shot such as this. They went for the kill.


In late February, British officials revealed to Wilson representatives in London that they had cracked the enemy’s codes and that the decrypts revealed the German conspiracy to place the United States on a three-front defensive war on the Atlantic, Pacific, and Mexican border. The British reputation for ruthless cleverness was well earned.


With the tool he needed to justify a congressional declaration of war, Wilson had the Zimmermann telegram released to the press on March 1. The operative part of the German foreign minister’s short message stated, “We make Mexico a proposal of alliance on the following basis: make war together, make peace together, generous financial support and an understanding on our part that Mexico is to reconquer the lost territory in Texas, New Mexico, and Arizona.”3


Many Americans, including leaders in Washington, wondered if the secret message was a British fabrication to dupe the country into a foreign war. Then the Germans, with their famous formality, conveniently solved the mystery. The sincerely gentlemanly Foreign Minister Zimmermann confirmed that the decrypted telegram was real.








Marxist Meltdown


In New York, Trotsky foamed with rage. Some of his key American socialist allies suddenly broke their stance on neutrality, and now supported Wilson’s desire for war with Germany. The Russian felt personally betrayed. He loudly attacked his American hosts. Fellow comrades, he thought, were in fact bourgeois imperialists. American intervention in France would divert more German troops to France and relieve the forces of his enemy, Imperial Russia.4


Then, just over a week later, came another blockbuster. Rival revolutionaries to Trotsky had overthrown Tsar Nicholas II and his imperial regime. The provisional democratic socialist government led by Alexander Kerensky took its place. But Kerensky wanted to continue Russia’s war against Germany.


That was enough for Trotsky. A New York police agent wrote down the angry revolutionary’s words: “I am going back to Russia to overthrow the Provisional Government there and stop the war with Germany. I want you people here to organize and keep organizing until you are able to overthrow the damned rotten capitalistic government of this country.”5


New York City police had no arrest or deportation authority for matters like this. No federal institution existed to arrest Trotsky in New York for sedition or conspiracy to overthrow the Constitution and turn him over for prosecution and judgment. Indeed, almost no federal law existed in this regard. The Justice Department had some small offices far off in Washington: an Alien Enemy Bureau with the colossal job of identifying and rounding up hundreds of thousands of German nationals, and a handful of detectives in a little unit called the Bureau of Investigation. The “Federal” part would come much later.


Had there been a full-fledged FBI and a proper set of laws to enforce, the bureau could have changed history by nabbing the most important Russian Communist leader next to Vladimir Lenin before his revolution could take place. The would-be founder of the Red Army might have served a long sentence up the Hudson River at Sing Sing.


With the ultimate overthrow of the United States government still on his mind, Trotsky steamed back to Europe, by way of Nova Scotia, to wage his promised revolution.


Meanwhile, Germany resumed sinking American ships, each sinking an act of war. In April of 1917, President Wilson asked Congress to declare war on Germany and the other Central Powers. He signed executive orders for the Justice Department to monitor, detain, and imprison, without due process, any foreigner considered a threat to the United States.


While the Americans prepared to fortify the Allies in Western Europe, the Hun exploited Russia’s internal turmoil. Germany would benefit from cutting a deal with Trotsky’s comrades who were hiding out in Switzerland and across Europe. The German General Staff and Reichsbank stoked those fanatics led by the exiled Vladimir Lenin, put them on a train, and sent them to Russia.


That faction, which would call itself the Bolsheviks, agreed with its capitalist German patrons to a separate peace with Berlin. The Bolsheviks would enable Germany to focus on its Western Front and slaughter the fresh American liberators. Under Lenin, the Bolsheviks, giving deathly life to the civilization-destroying theories of Karl Marx, ousted Russia’s fledgling socialist democracy in October and November of 1917, launching the revolution that Trotsky had promised in New York.


Trotsky became war commissar of Bolshevik Russia. Two months later, he founded and commanded the Red Army.













CHAPTER 5




Global Revolution


Taking over a country’s domestic intelligence service and police powers, or creating an entirely new internal security apparat, is the first vital step for any revolutionary group to put the population under control. Before Trotsky created the Red Army, the Bolsheviks established a secret police, the All-Russian Extraordinary Commission for Combating Counterrevolution and Sabotage, the notorious Cheka, to root out opponents and murder everyone in their way. Feliks Dzerzhinsky and his Chekists, as the “sword and shield” of the Communist Party, would make war against the people under their domination, tear down Russian civilization, and within five years build the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.


As they built their one-party state, Russia’s Communist leaders always kept their eye on what they wanted the entire world to look like politically. Dzerzhinsky never let his internal war distract him from shaping the rest of the world once the great Western powers ended their hostilities. The Bolsheviks’ separate peace with Germany allowed Berlin to move its forces from the Russian front to fight the Americans, Canadians, British, and French in the west. The Bolsheviks, in turn, could build their Soviet republic and empire without worrying about a German enemy. Indeed, a peaceful Germany weakened after the war would become a prize, or so the Soviets thought.


Within months of war’s end, in early 1919, Lenin’s Bolsheviks erected a huge global apparatus to spread Communist subversion and revolution and take advantage of postwar tensions to tear down entire civilizations worldwide. That apparat was called the Third International, or more popularly the Communist International, in Soviet shorthand the Comintern.


The Cheka would embed its foreign espionage and operational cadres into the Comintern’s growing political network. In time, with its sword-and-shield crest to herald its weaponization on behalf of the ruling party, it would change its name and structure: the GPU/OGPU of Lenin and Stalin, the NKVD of Stalin, the Soviet KGB, and ultimately the Federal Security Service and Foreign Intelligence Service of post-Soviet Russia—Vladimir Putin’s FSB and SVR. All with the same sword-and-shield coat of arms. Always calling themselves Chekisti, or Chekists.1


Before long, the Chekists would have their eyes on Wild Bill Donovan. And from Washington, a young Department of Justice official would have his eyes on Cheka and Comintern agents and assets in America. The young man was John Edgar Hoover.







Wild Bill and Hoover Fight World War I and Its Aftermath


Donovan left his New York law practice in early 1917 to deploy to France to fight the Germans. Just a couple years before, he had been in Berlin on the Rockefeller Foundation refugee relief account. Now, fresh from his horseback pursuits of Pancho Villa in Mexico, Donovan would lead infantry troops against formidable German forces in France.


Germany’s industrialized war machine had ripped apart the fresh-faced Americans with ghastly casualties on the French battlefield. Under relentless enemy fire, Donovan reorganized his chopped-up men and joined them personally on the front lines. He led with no apparent regard for his own safety. An enemy gunner shot him in the knee, but the determined Donovan refused to leave the field until his men could find shelter from the murderous maelstrom of bullets and shrapnel. Donovan’s brashness, courage, and superhuman endurance earned him the Medal of Honor and, perhaps more importantly, his nickname, “Wild Bill.”







Tackling Sedition: The Rise of J. Edgar Hoover


As Donovan deployed that spring, back in Washington Congress passed the Espionage Act to empower the Justice Department to arrest, detain, and deport enemy spies and agents. Wilson’s executive orders gave the department virtual free reign. The department’s War Emergency Division, responsible for protecting against enemy sabotage of industries and critical infrastructure, would be in charge.


The Alien Enemy Bureau nested in the Justice Department’s War Emergency Division. That small unit compiled lists, monitored, and arranged for the roundups of suspected foreigners from enemy nations. No due process needed.


J. Edgar Hoover, age twenty-two, graduated from law school that spring. He registered for the wartime draft. But he came to prominence as a civilian on the home front rather than as an infantryman in France. He received a job at the Alien Enemy Bureau.


It was a wartime domestic intelligence job, not law enforcement. The hardworking Hoover put in seven days a week with endless energy and precision. He impressed his superiors, who repeatedly promoted him, and quickly.


The Justice Department contained another small bureau of interest, too. At the time it was called the Bureau of Investigation.







Raised on Capitol Hill in the Age of “Manly Vigor”


Born in a row house in an integrated neighborhood on Capitol Hill, Hoover grew up in the shadow of the great neoclassical palace of Congress. That place and time prepared Hoover for his most unusual life. The Hoover family, descendants of German and Swiss immigrants to Pennsylvania, had lived in Washington since the British had burned the city in the War of 1812.


Most of the Hoovers worked in government service as messengers and clerks. Edgar’s father was a printing plate maker for the U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey. As a boy, Edgar delivered groceries from Eastern Market and learned that the faster and harder he worked, the more tips he earned.2 He excelled in his studies. He taught Sunday school. Edgar pushed himself hard. His rapid pattern of speech or his efficiency as a messenger and delivery boy earned him the nickname “Speed.” He led his high school cadet corps and graduated as valedictorian.


Washington was a growing but still small city. President Theodore Roosevelt, the former New York police commissioner, dominated politics during Hoover’s childhood, with police reform a major political issue. So was the threat of terrorism and extremism; anarchist violence plagued big cities, and TR himself had become president after an anarchist gunned down President William McKinley. A would-be assassin later shot Roosevelt in the chest, the bullet ricocheting off a steel eyeglass case in the president’s breast pocket. Roosevelt finished his speech.


The Hoover family joined the annual city tradition in which anyone could visit the White House unannounced on New Year’s Day—Edgar’s birthday—to drop in on the president. Roosevelt fascinated local children with his exotic pet zoo, including a bear, a hyena, and a macaw, on the White House grounds. Hoover once went as a teenager to meet President William Howard Taft.3 The nation’s political news was local. Roosevelt personified the virtues of a man’s man, a self-reliant American who picked himself up from childhood sickliness to live a life of courage and what he called “manly vigor.”


Edgar took it all in. As a boy, he ran a typewritten neighborhood children’s newspaper. His Weekly Review featured profiles of virtuous, great men who had overcome adversity, collections of Benjamin Franklin’s famous quotations for better living, announcements of prominent wedding engagements and retirement parties for public officials, and dry chronicles of local crime and sudden death.


He grew up watching the construction of the neoclassical marble wonders of the Senate and House office buildings flanking the Capitol, the House building just steps from his cramped family house. In high school, he developed a military-style discipline. He led his cadets in President Woodrow Wilson’s first inauguration parade. Raised as a devout Presbyterian, Edgar showed a missionary streak. He almost followed in his brother’s footsteps to become a Christian preacher on the Washington waterfront. But he found another calling.







Files, Archives, and Instruments of Power


The breathtaking, newly finished Library of Congress building, a splendidly ornate Greco-Roman temple of knowledge built of Massachusetts granite, fascinated Edgar as it would any visitor. It occupied an entire block across the street from the Capitol. Over time the library drew Edgar to the value of thorough files and extensive archives, all painstakingly indexed for easy reference. Three-by-five-inch index cards, each hand-typed or written in India ink, mounted securely on steel rods set in long hardwood drawers, each drawer arranged in tables and racks, and each of those in galleries, became his database.


Hoover got clerk and messenger jobs at the Library of Congress to work his way at night through the George Washington University Law School. The library taught him how to store and efficiently retrieve massive amounts of information through elaborate classification indices. The experience schooled him in the ways of Congress and the eccentricities of politicians and the legislative process. Hoover got to know lawmakers and their small staffs. At a time when members of Congress often lived in Capitol Hill boarding houses amid the working-class row houses, congressmen were Hoover’s neighbors.


Edgar knew the federal government’s whole political and administrative system and what made it tick. The system was minuscule compared to what it would become. Hoover understood that people with human failings formed the basis for upholding constitutional principles of a government by the consent of the governed. Those failings could be addressed or they could be exploited, for better or for worse.







Running the Alien Enemy Bureau


Without being part of any political group or power structure, and as a normal matter of course for someone raised on Capitol Hill, Hoover registered for the draft in the summer of 1917 and, with his new law degree, got a job at the Justice Department. His father, who had battled severe depression, became dysfunctional, making Edgar the breadwinner. Mental illness was a forbidden subject for most people at the time, and Edgar, like many, viewed it as a sign of weakness and moral failure. Long after his elder brother and sister moved away, he stayed home to care for both his parents. He maintained the family honor by keeping secret his father’s mental health condition. Fidelity mattered. Bravery and integrity protected fidelity.


In 1918, Hoover earned a promotion to run the Alien Enemy Bureau to lead the fight against anarchists and Marxists. He was twenty-three years old. At least 6,500 German nationals sat confined in camps under his authority, with another 450,000 under some kind of monitoring.4


Weeks before the Bolsheviks swept over Russia in November 1917, and mindful of the influx of agitators from abroad, Congress amended immigration law to protect against foreign extremists wracking America.


All “aliens who disbelieve in or advocate or teach the overthrow by force or violence of the Government of the United States shall be deported,” the law said, adding that “aliens who are members of or affiliated with any organization that entertains a belief in, teaches, or advocates the overthrow by force or violence of the Government of the United States shall be deported.”5 Then came the Sedition Act of 1918, which would ensnare socialist labor organizer Eugene Debs, who had shared the platform the year before with Trotsky.


The new wartime laws meant a huge amount of work at the relatively tiny Justice Department. Alien Enemy Bureau chief Hoover immersed himself completely in the mission.
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